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Federal M ne Safety and Heal th Revi ew Conm ssion
O fice of Adm nistrative Law Judges
2 Skyline, 10th Fl oor
5203 Leesburg Pi ke
Falls Church, Virginia 22041

SECRETARY OF LABOR, Cl VI L PENALTY PROCEEDI NGS
M NE SAFETY AND HEALTH
ADM NI STRATI ON ( MSHA) , Docket No. KENT 90-97
PETI TI ONER A. C. No. 15-13469-03730
V.
Docket No. KENT 90-120
GREEN RI VER COAL COVMPANY, A. C. No. 15-13469-03737
I NC. ,
RESPONDENT Docket No. KENT 90-444
A. C. No. 15-13469-03756
No. 9 M ne
DECI SI ON

Appear ances: W F. Taylor, Esq., Ofice of the
Solicitor, U S. Departnent of
Labor, Nashville, TN, for the
Petitioner;
B. R Paxton, Esqg., Central City,
KY, for the Respondent.

Bef ore: Judge Fauver:

The Secretary of Labor seeks civil penalties for alleged
safety violations in these consolidated cases, under the Federa
M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C [0 801 et seq.

Respondent noved to strike the Secretary's posthearing brief
on the ground that government counsel failed to include
references to the transcript. The Secretary was allowed time to
add such references. Counsel for the Secretary did so, and the
nmotion to strike is DEN ED

In filing a new brief with references to the transcript, the
Secretary's counsel stated in the cover letter that "we find that
[the procedural regulations and the Act] do not require
transcript references in briefs filed with the Conm ssions
Judges. *** [Many, many, tinmes, because of budget constraints,
this office is prohibited from purchasing trial transcripts and
the post-trial briefs are, therefore, witten based upon the
attorney's trial notes.”

I find counsel's position to be in error. The
prof essionalismrequired of an attorney to subnit page references
to the transcript
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does not need a procedural rule. This judge expects attorneys to
submit professionally prepared briefs, not to be based on
guesswork or surmise and not to cause the other parties and the
trial judge to search the hearing record for support for the
counsel's recollection or "notes" as to what was said at the
trial. The Mne Act is a very inportant piece of legislation. It
aut horizes the Conm ssion to adjudicate very serious and
conplicated matters involving safety and health in the mnes and
the due process rights of parties, including allowing a mine to
remain closed for violations or to be reopened, determ nation of
vi ol ati ons, assessnent of civil penalties with a limt of $50, 000
for each violation, reinstatenent of miners with substantia
awards of pack pay, attorney fees and other |itigation costs,
etc. Litigation under this statute is not be reduced to the
government's guesswork as to what was proved or disproved in a
formal, accusatory hearing. (Footnote 1)

If, in the future, the governnent does not choose to obtain
a transcript, it may use the Commi ssion's public reading roomto
read the transcript and make references to it.

Havi ng consi dered the hearing evidence and the record as a
whole, | find that a preponderance of the substantial, reliable,
and probative evidence establishes the foll ow ng Findings of Fact
and further findings in the Discussion bel ow

FI NDI NGS OF FACT
Citation No. 3420966

1. Al all relevant times Respondent operated an underground
coal mine, known as Green River Coal #9, which produced coal for
sale or use in or affecting interstate conmerce

2. Federal Coal M ne |Inspector Bobby Clark inspected the
m ne on May 9, 1990, acconpani ed by Respondent's Safety Director
M ke McGregor, and the miners' representative, Ron Nelson. As the
men wal ked i nby (toward the working section) at the 8A seals, the
alarm on Inspector Clark's methane detector sounded, showi ng a
presence of 1.4 percent methane. He was in front of the No. 4
seal . Inspector Clark checked each seal as he passed it and the
nmet hane gas reading remained 1.4 percent. He checked the return
entry, about 100 feet inby the first seal, and the nethane gas
accurul ati on was still 1.4 percent. Inspector Clark inspected
each seal and determined that no | eaks were present. He concl uded
that the nethane was in the return airsplit fromthe No. 2
wor ki ng section, and told McGregor that he was issuing a citation
under 30
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C.F.R 0O 75.309(a), which provides in pertinent part:

If, when tested, a split of air returning from any
wor ki ng section contains 1.0 volunme per centum or nore
of met hane, changes or adjustnents shall be nade at
once in the ventilation in the mne so that such
returning air shall contain less that 1.0 volunme per
centum of met hane. * * *

3. Later in the day, after Inspector Clark returned to the
surface, he observed that the fire boss who examined the area on
May 8, 1990, had recorded in the exam ner's book on that date the
presence of 1.5 percent methane gas all across the area in front
of the 8A seals and his report was countersigned by Forenmen Cates
and Wiitfield. He then deternmined that the citation should be
i ssued under 0O 104(d) (1) of the Act, charging an unwarrantabl e
vi ol ati on.

Citation No. 3420800

4. Inspector George W Siria inspected the nmine on Decenber
13, 1989, acconpani ed by Respondent's Safety Director MG egor
and nminers' representative Nel son. Before they arrived at the
wor ki ng section, they were told there was no power on the section
and a roof fall may have struck the power transni ssion cable.

5. When he reached the section, Inspector Siria exam ned the
roof, took an air reading and started nmaki ng met hane checks. He
found nethane in excess of 1.0 percent in nine |ocations, which
he pointed out to McGregor. He issued O 104(a) Citation No.
3420800 charging a violation of 30 CF.R 0O 75.302, which
provi des:

(a) Properly installed and adequately nmintained |ine
brattice or other approved devices shall be
continuously used fromthe |ast open crosscut of an
entry or room of each working section to provide
adequate ventilation to the working faces for the

m ners and to renove flammabl e, expl osive, and noxi ous
gases, dust, and expl osive funes, unless the Secretary
or his authorized representative pernmts an exception
to this requirenent, where such exception will not pose
a hazard to the mners. Wen danmaged by falls or

ot herwi se, such line brattice or other devices shall be
repaired i medi ately.

(b) The space between the |line brattice or other
approved device and the rib shall be |large enough to
permt the flow of a sufficient volume and vel ocity of
air to keep the working face clear of flanmabl e,
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expl osi ve, and noxi ous gases, dust and
expl osi ve funes.

(c) Brattice cloth used underground shall be of
flame-resistant material.

Citation No. 3421762

6. Inspector Siria observed accunul ati ons of coal dust and
| oose coal in the same section where he found excessive mnethane.
Based on these observations, he issued O 104(d)(1) Citation No.
3421762, charging a violation of 30 C.F.R 0O 75.400, which
provi des:

Coal dust, including float coal dust deposited on
rock-dusted surfaces, |oose coal, and other conmbustible
mat eri als, shall be cleaned up and not be permitted to
accurrul ate in active workings, or on electric equipnent
t herei n.

DI SCUSSI ON W TH FURTHER FI NDI NGS
Citation No. 3420966

The key issue is whether the one percent nethane |evel of 30
C.F.R 0 75.309(a) or the two percent level of 0O 75.312-2(d)
applies to the place where | nspector found 1.4 per cent methane
i nby the 8A seals.

The governnment contends that the inspector found 1.4 percent
met hane in a split of air returning from No. 2 working section
inby the first seal, and therefore 30 CF.R 0O 75.309(a) applies.
That section provides:

If, when tested, a split of air returning from any
wor ki ng section contains 1.0 volume per centum or nore
of net hane, changes or adjustments shall be made at
once in the ventilation in the mne so that such
returning air shall contain less than 1.0 vol unme per
centum of methane. Tests under this 0O 75.309 shall be
made at 4-hour intervals during each shift by a
qual i fied person designated by he operator of the mne
In maki ng such tests, such person shall use neans
approved by the Secretary for detecting nethane.
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Respondent contends that the nethane was being |iberated from
an abandoned area inby the 8A seals, and therefore 30 C.F. R
0 75.312-2(d) andO 75.309-2 apply. These sections provide:

30 CF.R 0O 75.312-2(d)

The net hane content in any return aircourse other than
an aircourse returning the split of air froma working
section (as provided in O O 75.309 and 75.310) should
not exceed 2.0 volune per centum

30 C.F.R 0O 75.309-2

The nethane content in a split of air returning from
any working section shall be neasured at such point or
poi nts where nethane may be present in the air current
in such split between he | ast working place of the
wor ki ng section ventilated by the split and the
junction of such split with another airsplit or the

| ocation at which such split is used to ventilate seals
or abandoned areas.

The focus thus sharpens to the question whether the area
contended by Respondent to be an abandoned area (see Exhibit R 1
area marked from"X" to "Y") was an abandoned area within the
meani ng of O 75.309-2.

"Abandoned area" is defined in 30 C.F. R 0O 30.75.2(h) as
foll ows:

"Abandoned areas" neans sections, panels, and other
areas that are not ventilated and exam ned in the
manner required for working places under Subpart D of
this Part 75.

If an operator contends that an area is abandoned, or is to
become abandoned, O 75.330 provides that the operator nust foll ow
a "plan . . . approved by the Secretary and adopted by such
operator so that, as each working section of the nmine is
abandoned, it can be isolated fromthe active workings of the
m ne with expl osion-proof seals or bul kheads."

Respondent's Safety Director testified that an abandoned
area existed about 2500 feet outby the No. 2 working section, and
i nby the place where Inspector Clark reported nethane. He
described it as an area where "we had either roof falls or the
condition of the roof was such that we couldn't go in and nake
these safe and we couldn't mine themsafely." Tr. 77. He further
stated "the exam ner was making his weekly exam staying in the
ti mber wal kway." 1d. The exam nati on books reported that this
area was bei ng exam ned weekly.
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VWhen the citation was issued by |Inspector Clark, Respondent
did not say that this was an abandoned area, so that he could
investigate the claim Nor did it offer proof at the hearing that
it was followi ng an approved plan for designating this area as
abandoned and sealing it fromactive workings. In addition, the
return airway was clearly an "active working" within the neaning
of 30 CF.R 0O 75.2(9g)(4), which provides: ""[a]ctive workings
means any place in a coal m ne where mners are nornmally required
to work or travel." | find that the area Respondent clains to be
abandoned was not "abandoned" within the neaning of the Act or
regul ati ons. The area cited by the inspector was an airsplit
returning air froma working section and inby the first sealed or
abandoned area within the neaning of 0O 75.309-2. The Secretary
proved a violation of O 75.309(a), because 1.5 per cent nethane
had been detected by the operator on May 8, 1990, and the
operator had not conplied with O 75.309(a) by maki ng changes so
that the "returning air shall contain less than 1.0 vol une per
centum of nethane. "

Unwar r ant abl e Vi ol ati on

The Conmmi ssion has held that an "unwarrantable" failure to
conply nmeans "aggravated conduct constituting nore than ordinary
negl i gence." Enmery Mning Corp., 9 FMSHRC 1997, 2004 (1987);
Youghi ogheny & Chio Coal Co., 9 FMSHRC 2007, 2010 (1987). As
defined in the legislative history, an "unwarrantable" failure is
"failure of an operator to abate a violation he knew or should
have known existed, or the failure to abate a viol ation because
of a lack of due diligence, or because of indifference or |ack of
reasonabl e care on the operator's part." Senate Committee on
Labor and Public Welfare, 94th Cong., 1st Sess., Part |
Legi sl ative History of the Federal Coal Mne Health and Safety
Act of 1969, at 1512 (1975); see also id., at 1602; and see:
Senate Subcommittee on Labor, Committee on Human Resources, 95th
Cong., 2nd Sess., Legislative History of the Federal M ne Safety
and Health Act of 1977, at 620 (1978).

After Inspector Clark returned to the surface, he discovered
that the fire boss who exam ned the area on May 8, 1990, recorded
in the exam ner's book on that date the presence of 1.5 percent
met hane gas all across the area in front of the 8A seals, and
this report was countersigned by two Green River supervisors,
Foremen Cates and Whitfield. He determ ned that the citation
shoul d be issued under 0O 104(d)(i) of the Act, charging an
unwar r ant abl e vi ol ati on.

Respondent's Safety Director, MG egor, testified that his
inquiries indicated the forenen signed the exam ner's book on My
8, 1990, before it was conpleted for that date and they did not
see the entry reporting 1.5 percent nethane. Tr. 87-88. The
forenmen, Whitfield and Cates, did not testify at the hearing.

I do not credit the Safety Director's hearsay testinony as
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reliabl e evidence of an explanation for Respondent's failure to
heed the examiner's report of 1.5 percent nethane. Respondent is
accountable for the information provided in the exam ner's book
and its supervisors are required to read the exam ner's report
and countersign it. Absent the testinony of the supervisors as to
their reasons for not taking action as required by 0O 75.309(a),
with the opportunity of government counsel to cross-exam ne,

find that the examiner's report is inputable to Respondent. The
nmet hane was being liberated from an unseal ed area where roof
falls could build up methane to an explosive level. Pronmpt action
was required. Respondent's failure to heed the report of
excessi ve nmet hane was aggravated conduct, sustaining the

i nspector’'s finding of an unwarrantabl e violation

A Significant and Substantial Violation

The Conmmi ssion has held that a violation is "significant and
substantial" if there is "a reasonable |ikelihood that the hazard
contributed to will result in an injury or illness of a
reasonably serious nature."™ U 'S. Steel Mning Co., Inc., 7 FMSHRC
327, 328 (1985); Cenent Division, National Gypsum Co., 3 FMSHRC
822, 825 (1981); Mathies Coal Co., 6 FMSHRC 1, 3-4 (1984). This
evaluation is made in ternms of "continued normal m ning
operations.” U S. Steel Mning Co., Inc., 6 FMSHRC 1573, 1574
(1984).

Anal ysis of the statutory |anguage and the Conmm ssion's
decisions indicates that the test of an S&S violation is a
practical and realistic question whether, assum ng continued
m ni ng operations, the violation presents a substantia
possibility of resulting in injury or disease, not a requirenent
that the Secretary of Labor prove that it is nore probable than
not that injury or disease will result. See ny decision in
Consol idation Coal Conpany, 4 FMSHRC 748-752 (1991). The statute,
whi ch does not use the phrase "reasonably likely to occur" or
"reasonabl e |ikelihood" in defining an S&S vi ol ation, states that
an S&S violation exists if "the violation is of such nature as
could significantly and substantially contribute to the cause and
effect of a coal or other mine safety or health hazard" (O
104(d) (1) of the Act; enphasis added). Al so, under the statute,
(1) an "imm nent danger" is defined as "any condition or practice
. whi ch coul d reasonably be expected to cause death or
serious physical harmbefore [it] can be abated, " (Footnote 2)
and (2) an S&S violation is | ess than an i mm nent danger
(Footnote 3) It follows that the Comm ssion's use of the phrase
"reasonably likely to occur"” or "reasonable |ikelihood" does not
preclude an S&S finding where a



~1254

substantial possibility of injury or disease is shown by the
evi dence, even though the proof may not show that injury or
di sease is nore probable than not.

As stated above, the nethane was comi ng from an unseal ed
area where roof falls could build up methane to an expl osive
| evel . Under continued nmining conditions, sources of ignition
woul d be present. The violation presented a substantia
possibility of resulting in a m ne explosion or fire caused by
met hane ignition. It was therefore a significant and substantia
vi ol ati on.

Section 104(b) Order

When | nspector Clark issued Citation No. 3420966, he
bel i eved a reasonable time to reduce the methane | evel to bel ow
one percent was 24 hours. However, his supervisor directed himto
allow only two hours for abatenment. Respondent began i mredi ate
abat ement work when Inspector Clark first told McG egor that he
found 1.4 percent nmethane and woul d be issuing a citation
Respondent reduced the nethane | evel by building eight seals and
four concrete blocks across the area later clainmed to be
abandoned. This was done by 6:00 p.m on the follow ng day, wel
within the 24 hours expected by the inspector. When the inspector
returned three hours after he issued the citation, abatement work
was in progress, but the inspector did not extend the abatenent
period. Instead, he issued O 104(b) Order No. 3420967, for
failure to abate within the time provided in the citation

I find that Respondent denonstrated good faith and
reasonabl e speed in abating the nmethane condition after the
i nspector brought it to Respondent's attention

In the absence of a finding of immnent danger, which was
not the case here, it was arbitrary for Inspector Clark's
supervisor to direct himto all ow Respondent only two hours to
abate the condition cited in the citation. The order shall be
vacat ed

Considering all the criteria for a civil penalty in O 110(i)
of the act, | find that a penalty of $1,200 is appropriate for
the violation proved under Citation No. 3420966.

Citation No. 3420800

On Decenber 13, 1989, Inspector George W Siria issued O
104(a) Citation No. 3420800, which charged:

Properly install ed and adequately naintained |ine
brattice or other approved devices were not
continuously used fromthe |ast open crosscut to
provi de adequate ventilation to the working section.
There was CH4 present in the follow ng places when
checked one foot
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fromroof, face & rib, No. 1. = 1.0% 2. =
1.2% 2 x L =1.0% 6 = 1.1% and 6 x R1.0%this
was on the No. 2 unit, ID. 007.

The citation charges a violation of 30 CF. R 0O 75.302,
whi ch provides in pertinent part:

Properly installed and adequately nmaintained |line
brattices or other approved devices shall be
continuously used fromthe |ast open crosscut of an
entry or room of each working section to provide
adequate ventilation to the working faces for the

m ners and to renove flammabl e, expl osive, and noxi ous
gases, dust, and explosive funmes . . . . [Enphasis
added. ]

At the hearing, the inspector acknow edged that the
brattices were properly installed and naintained (Tr. 120, 123).
The ventilation probl emwas that soneone had | eft a man door open
sonme di stance outby the | ast open crosscut. After the door was
closed, in two hours or so the nmethane | evel was reduced bel ow
one percent.

Since the problem was an inproperly opened man door out by
the | ast open crosscut, and not line brattice or other
ventilation devices inby the |ast open crosscut, | find that the
Secretary did not prove a violation of O 75.302, which applies
only "fromthe | ast open crosscut” toward the working face.

Citation No. 3421762

On Decenber 13, 1989, Inspector Siria issued O 104(d) (1)
Citation No. 3421762, for a violation of 30 C.F. R 0O 75.400.
There were accunul ati ons of | oose coal and coal dust 6 to 12
i nches deep along the ribs in the Nos. 1 through 8 entries to a
poi nt about 75 feet outby the working faces, a |arge coa
spillage in the crosscut in No. 7 entry, |oose coal and coal dust
around the belt, and cribs constructed on | oose coal. These
accumul ati ons were obvi ous, substantial, and should have been
prevented from devel opi ng.

Respondent contends that the accumul ati ons were not
danger ous because the power was off. However, the gravity of
conditions observed by an inspector is evaluated by assum ng
conti nued normal mining operations. Assumi ng continued nining
operations, the accunul ations of coal dust and | oose coa
presented a substantial possibility of resulting in or
propagating a mne fire. This is sufficient to establish a
"significant and substantial™ violation, as discussed above. The
testi mony of the Respondent's Safety Director that the coal dust
was wet, and nost of it was "nud" (Tr. 139), does not disprove an
S&S violation. Loose coal is not "nud" and can propagate a nine
fire. Once a fire spreads, the heat can rapidly dry |oose coal or
coal dust and further propagate a fire. Anmine fire is one of the
princi pal dangers in underground coa
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mning. Permtting substantial accumul ations of fuel for a fire
underground is a "significant and substantial” violation. G ven
t he obvi ous conditions involved here, the extensive amunt of
accumrul ati ons, and the danger to the m ners, the evidence shows
aggravat ed conduct, sustaining the inspector's finding of an
unwar r ant abl e viol ation.

Considering all the criteria for a civil penalty is 0O 110(i)
of the Act, | find that a penalty of $1,000 is appropriate for
the violation proved under Citation No. 3421762.

CONCLUSI ONS OF LAW

1. The judge has jurisdiction in this proceeding.

2. Respondent violated 30 CF. R 0O 75.309 as alleged in
Citati on No. 3420966.

3. Respondent violated 30 C.F.R 0O 75.400 as alleged in
Citation No. 3421762.

4. The Secretary failed to prove a violation of 30 CF. R O
75.302 as alleged in Citation No. 3420800.

5. Order No. 3420967 is invalid as being arbitrary and
unr easonabl e.

ORDER
VWHEREFORE I T | S ORDERED t hat:
1. Order No. 3420967 is VACATED
2. Citation No. 3420800 is VACATED
3. Citation Nos. 3420966 and 3421762 are AFFI RMED

4. Respondent shall pay civil penalties of $2,200 within 30
days fromthe date of this decision

W I liam Fauver
Adm ni strative Law Judge

1. Adifferent situation exists when the parties present
oral argunents before a transcript is prepared. Such is not the
case here

2. Section 3(j) of the 1969 M ne Act, unchanged by the
Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977; enphasis added.

3. Section 104(d)(1) limts S&S violations to conditions
that "do not cause inm nent danger . . . . "



